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No. 11-10669 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
 

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
 Plaintiff-Appellee, 
 
  v. 
 
BARRY LAMAR BONDS, 
 
 Defendant-Appellant. 
 
_____________________________ 
 

OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REHEARING EN BANC 
 

 
On December 4, 2003, Defendant-Appellee Barry Bonds, then a baseball 

player for the San Francisco Giants, testified under a grant of immunity before the 

grand jury in its investigation into the Bay Area Laboratory Cooperative’s 

(“BALCO”) Victor Conte and Greg Anderson for their involvement in the illegal 

distribution of performance enhancing drugs (“PEDs”), and money laundering.  

Excerpts of Record (“ER”):264-373.  Based on his grand jury testimony, Bonds 

was charged with perjury and obstruction of justice.  ER:259; see ER:198 (original 

indictment), 226, 247-48.   

Bonds was charged under the omnibus clause of 18 U.S.C. § 1503 which 

provides for the punishment of a person who “corruptly or by threats or force, or 
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by any threatening letter or communication, influences, obstructs, or impedes, or 

endeavors to influence, obstruct, or impede, the due administration of justice.”  

The jury was instructed that it could convict Bonds of obstruction only if it 

unanimously found “Statement C,” part of Bonds’s response to a question about 

whether Anderson ever provided him with any injectable substances, to be 

“material testimony that was intentionally evasive, false or misleading.”  ER:157.  

The jury convicted Bonds of the obstruction count, and failed to reach a 

verdict on the perjury counts.  ER:39-40.  The district court denied Bonds’s 

motions for a judgment of acquittal and a new trial, ER:1-20, and a panel of this 

Court (Schroeder, Hawkins, Murguia, JJ.) affirmed, holding that the evidence 

showed that Statement C was intentionally evasive and misleading, without 

reaching the government’s contention that Statement C was also literally false, and 

holding that Bonds’s indictment was sufficient.  United States v. Bonds, 730 F.3d 

890, 894-99 (9th Cir. 2013). 

Bonds now seeks en banc review, but his petition is based on a hyperbolic 

characterization of the panel’s opinion, inaccuracies about the record, and an 

incorrect conflation of the requirements for perjury and obstruction of justice.  The 

panel’s decision is squarely in accord with precedent and raises no question of 

extraordinary importance.  Fed. R. App. P. 35(a).  Specifically, the panel’s decision 

does not mean that “witnesses now have an affirmative duty to turn over all 
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relevant information in their possession.”  Petition at 2-3.  Rather, consistent with 

Circuit law, the panel’s decision holds only that a witness may not, through false, 

misleading, or evasive statements, conceal truthful information requested by the 

grand jury.  Nor does the panel’s decision incorrectly sweep away the requirement 

that the government prove literal falsity under Section 1503.  Petition at 3.  Literal 

falsity has never been an element of Section 1503, whose object is not false 

statements, but obstructive behavior in all its forms.  Nor does the panel’s decision 

transform Section 1503 into an Orwellian thought crime.  Petition at 11.  The 

obstruction statute clearly requires the defendant to take action that could affect the 

grand jury’s investigation, with the requisite intent.  In this case, Bonds made false, 

misleading, and evasive statements to the grand jury; these statements were 

material; and he made them with corrupt intent.  This Court should therefore deny 

en banc review.   

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

I. Trial evidence 

 Throughout his immunized grand jury testimony, Bonds A.
consistently testified that he had no information about Anderson’s 
distribution of PEDs 

 
During his immunized grand jury testimony, Bonds repeatedly and 

consistently denied that Anderson, his trainer, ever offered, supplied, administered, 

or even suggested that he use steroids (ER:291, 293, 299, 305-08, 311, 320-21, 
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339-40, 349-50), hormone drugs, (ER:300-01, 305-07, 309-10, 338-40) or 

injectable substances (ER:301-03, 305-08, 313).  Bonds stated that he only paid 

Anderson for an exercise program, and that Anderson supplied, for free from 

BALCO, mineral profiling through blood and urine tests, vitamin supplements, 

protein shakes, and at one point, what Anderson represented were flax seed oil and 

arthritis cream.  ER:275-98, 309-10, 315, 322-23, 327, 359-60, 363-64, 372.  In the 

grand jury, Bonds identified samples of THG, a steroid designed to elude drug 

testing for which he tested positive (Government’s Supplemental Excerpts of 

Record (“SER”):573a-75), and a masking agent as the flax seed oil and arthritis 

cream, and he claimed that nothing Anderson did or the way the substances acted 

gave him any reason to believe that they were PEDs.  ER:282-98, 309, 312-13, 

319-21, 332-36, 340-43, 365; SER:173-74. 

Bonds also testified that he knew nothing about whether or how Anderson 

distributed PEDs because, as a life-long celebrity, he was careful to keep ignorant 

of the business of even those closest to him.  ER:274-75, 297, 301-02, 317-18, 350, 

369-70; SER:11.  Statement C, which the jury found to be obstructive, is the 

underlined portion of the following excerpt: 

Q:   Did Greg ever give you anything that required a syringe to inject  
  yourself with? 

 
A:   I’ve only had one doctor touch me.  And that’s my only personal  

  doctor.  Greg, like I said, we don’t get into each others’ personal lives.  
  We’re friends, but I don’t – we don’t sit around and talk baseball,  
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  because he knows I don’t want – don’t come to my house talking  
  baseball.  If you want to come to my house and talk about fishing,  
  some other stuff, we’ll be good friends.  You come around talking  
  about baseball, you go on.  I don’t talk about his business. You know  
  what I mean?  

 
Q:   Right. 
 
A:   That’s what keeps our friendship.  You know, I am sorry, but that – 

  you know, that – I was a celebrity child, not just in baseball by my  
  own instincts.  I became a celebrity child with a famous father.  I just  
  don’t get into other people’s business because of my father’s situation, 
  you see.   

 
ER:301;1 SER:7-12. 

 Bonds knew that Anderson was distributing PEDs  B.

 In fact, Bonds knew that Anderson was distributing PEDs because he knew 

Anderson was giving them to at least him.  While training with Anderson, Bonds 

sought research on injectable steroids, and later told his mistress that steroids 

caused his elbow injury.  SER:30-35, 242-45, 250-56, 369-70, 538.  Anderson 

talked to Bonds’s personal assistant about giving Bonds steroid injections, and 

about how Bonds’s regimen, which included THG and human growth hormone 

(“HGH”), typically injected into a fold of abdominal skin, was undetectable.  

ER:283-89; SER:37-38, 270, 282, 344.  Bonds’s personal shopper saw Anderson 

give Bonds an abdominal injection that Bonds explained was “a little some some” 

                                           
 1  Bonds’s entire grand jury testimony (ER:263-372) is attached. 
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for “when I go on the road” that “we can’t detect . . . you can’t catch.”  SER:554-

56. 

 Bonds withheld evidence from the grand jury with corrupt intent C.

Prior to his grand jury testimony, Bonds approached Giants trainer Stan 

Conte (“Stan”), and told him that “it was unfair what the government was doing 

to” Anderson, who “was only selling the steroids to help his kid.”  SER:409-10.  

Stan responded that since they were both grand jury witnesses, they probably 

should not be talking about this, but Bonds continued, stating that Anderson had 

put Bonds’s initials on some doping calendars to protect other players, and that the 

$60,000 found at Anderson’s home during a search was for Bonds’s use with 

female companions.  SER:410-12.   

Before testifying before the grand jury, Bonds accompanied his attorney to 

the office of Anderson’s lawyer four or five times, where the lawyers had 

discussions.  ER:351-55.  Bonds also publicly announced that he had tested 

negatively for steroids and cut off his relationships with the people who knew 

otherwise.  ER:334-35; SER:290-91, 358, 378-79, 556b.  

II. The panel’s opinion 

 A panel of this Court rejected Bonds’s arguments that Section 1503 does not 

cover testimony before the grand jury, and that literal truth is an absolute defense 

to obstruction of justice.  Bonds, 730 F.3d at 894-97.  The panel held that under 
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“[e]stablished Ninth Circuit and Supreme Court precedent,” Section 1503’s broad 

omnibus clause encompasses obstructive grand jury testimony, and an evasive 

answer that deliberately conceals information, a misleading answer, and a false 

answer, can all be obstructive.  Id. at 894-96. 

 The panel upheld Bonds’s conviction because the trial evidence, viewed in 

the light most favorable to the government, showed that Bonds made Statement C, 

which was nonresponsive to the prosecutor’s preceding question about self-

injections,2 to divert the grand jury’s attention from its inquiry.  Id. at 896.  The 

panel found that whether Bonds eventually directly answered the prosecutor’s 

question was irrelevant because Section 1503 punishes any endeavor to obstruct.  

Id.  Statement C was also “at the very least misleading” “because it implied that 

Bonds did not know whether Anderson distributed steroids and PEDs” where the 

trial evidence showed otherwise.  Id.  Statement C was material because it “was 

capable of influencing the grand jury to minimize Anderson’s role in the 

distribution of illegal steroids and PEDs.”  Id. at 896-97.  The panel also found the 

indictment was sufficient.  Id. at 898-99. 

 

 

                                           
2  The government argued that the question was about whether Anderson 

gave Bonds any injectable substances, and not about self-injection.  Government’s 
Answering Brief at 30-31. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. Precedent and legislative history establish that Section 1503 covers 
obstructive grand jury testimony 

 
Bonds argues that Section 1503 only covers intimidating conduct and that 

witness testimony, no matter how false, misleading, or evasive, is not within the 

statute’s scope.  Petition at 7-11.  This argument is inconsistent with precedent and 

legislative history. 

Bonds’s assertion that the case law is unsettled as to whether testimony 

given directly to the grand jury is covered under Section 1503, Petition at 8-10 & 

n.3, cannot be squared with United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593 (1995).  In 

Aguilar, the Supreme Court explained that witness testimony given directly to the 

grand jury may form the basis of a Section 1503 conviction.  Id. at 599-602.  

“[O]ne who delivers false documents or testimony to the grand jury itself” “all but 

assures that the grand jury will consider the material in its deliberations.”  Id. at 

601.  Such conduct has the natural and probable effect of interfering with the due 

administration of justice and violates Section 1503’s omnibus clause.  Id.  

Aguilar’s conduct, however, fell on the innocent “side of the statutory line.”  Id. at 

600.  He lied to FBI agents who might never be called to testify before the grand 

jury, and whose investigation had not been authorized or directed by the grand jury 

at the time of the inquiry.  Id.  Aguilar’s lies therefore did not have the natural and 

probable effect of interfering with a grand jury proceeding.  Id. 
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While the Supreme Court deemed it “unnecessary” to address Aguilar’s 

argument that making false statements was not influencing “corruptly” within the 

meaning of the statute, id. at 600 & n.1, the Court “rejected” the argument 

implicitly.  United States v. Ladum, 141 F.3d 1328, 1338 (9th Cir. 1998).  By 

holding that Aguilar’s conduct fell short of violating the statute because there was 

no nexus to an ongoing judicial proceeding, the Supreme Court implicitly held that 

Aguilar would have violated Section 1503 if he had made his false statements 

directly to the grand jury.  Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 600-01; cf. United States v. Russo, 

104 F.3d 431, 432, 435-36 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (upholding Section 1503 conviction 

based on defendant’s grand jury testimony). 

Nor do this Court’s cases give any toehold to Bonds’s contention that 

Section 1503 does not cover a defendant’s testimony to the grand jury.  See United 

States v. Doss, 630 F.3d 1181, 1187-89 (9th Cir. 2011) (explaining that in Section 

1503, “corruptly” means motivated by improper purpose and supplies mens rea 

element); United States v. Lench, 806 F.2d 1443, 1445-46 (9th Cir. 1986) 

(withholding documents subpoenaed by grand jury); United States v. Gonzalez-

Mares, 752 F.2d 1485, 1488, 1491-92 (9th Cir. 1984) (falsely denying under oath 

to sentencing judge); United States v. Lester, 749 F.2d 1288, 1293-94 & n.3 (9th 

Cir. 1984) (rejecting argument that Section 1503’s omnibus clause covers only 

activities involving force, threats, or intimidation); United States v. Rasheed, 663 
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F.2d 843, 851-53 (9th Cir. 1984) (concealing documents subpoenaed by grand 

jury).   

Haili v. United States, 260 F.2d 744 (9th Cir. 1958), on which Bonds relies, 

Petition at 8-10, never held that Section 1503 does not cover obstructive testimony.  

Rather, Haili held that under the rule of ejusdem generis, the phrase “due 

administration of justice” in Section 1503’s omnibus clause refers to “the process 

of arriving at an appropriate judgment in a pending case” and “the ordinary and 

proper functions of the court.”  Id. at 746.  Thus, although causing someone to 

violate the terms of her probation might interfere with the due administration of 

justice in a general sense, it did not violate Section 1503.  Id. at 745.  Only United 

States v. Metcalf, 435 F.2d 754, 755-57 (9th Cir. 1970), suggests that “the manner 

in which the statute may be violated would ordinarily seem to be limited to 

intimidating actions.”  But as Rasheed, 663 F.2d at 851, explained, this was dicta:  

the Court reversed Metcalf’s conviction for lack of nexus to any specific judicial 

proceeding.  Id.   

Moreover, Metcalf’s dicta defies Congress’s clear intent that the omnibus 

clause act as a catch-all, not limited to obstruction by intimidation or force.  Nye v. 

United States, 313 U.S. 33, 52-53 (1941).  Where the earlier clause of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1503 prohibits influencing, “intimidat[ing],” or impeding a “juror,” the omnibus 

clause prohibits influencing, “obstruct[ing],” or impeding “the due administration 
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of justice.”  For that reason, this Court has found that Section 1503 encompasses 

witness tampering even though it does not mention witnesses, and even though 18 

U.S.C. § 1512 does so explicitly.  See Ladum, 141 F.3d at 1338; Lester, 749 F.2d 

at 1292-94.  Bonds argues that 18 U.S.C. § 1515(b), which defines 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1505 to cover false statements, shows that Congress only intended false 

statements to constitute obstruction under Section 1505.  Petition at 9.  This 

argument has it exactly backwards.  Congress explained that Section 1515(b) was 

intended to bring Section 1505 “back into line with other Federal obstruction 

statutes.”  104 Cong. Rec. S11607-08 (daily ed. Sept. 27, 1996); 104 Cong. Rec. 

S8938-40 (daily ed. July 25, 1996). 

In light of the clear legislative intent, there is no place for either the rule of 

ejusdem generis or the rule of lenity to limit Section 1503’s omnibus clause to 

intimidating actions.  Petition at 9.  The rule of ejusdem generis may not be applied 

to “defeat the intention of Congress or render the general statutory language 

meaningless.”  United States v. Mescall, 215 U.S. 26, 31-32 (1909); cf. United 

States v. Poindexter, 951 F.2d 369, 385 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (interpreting “corruptly” 

as transitive would render Section 1503’s omnibus clause superfluous).  “Where 

Congress has manifested its intention,” courts “may not manufacture ambiguity in 

order to defeat that intent” through application of the rule of lenity.  Bifulco v. 

United States, 447 U.S. 381, 387 (1980).   
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II. The panel’s holding that testimony need not be literally false to be 
obstructive does not newly criminalize conduct 

 
Bonds argues that if Section 1503 covers grand jury testimony, it only 

covers perjury, and that by rejecting a literal falsity requirement, the panel’s 

opinion has imposed on all citizens an “affirmative duty to turn over all relevant 

evidence.”  Petition at 10.  This argument does not withstand scrutiny. 

First, Bonds was not convicted of obstruction of justice because he did not 

affirmatively reach out to law enforcement and report everything he knew about 

BALCO and Anderson.  Bonds was convicted of obstructing justice because, after 

being subpoenaed to testify before the grand jury, after receiving immunity, after 

taking an oath to tell the truth and being given numerous opportunities through 

repeated questioning to tell the truth, he consistently testified in a false, misleading, 

and evasive fashion about what he knew regarding Anderson’s distribution of 

PEDs.   

The jury reasonably found that Statement C was an example of Bonds’s 

obstructive conduct.  While it was true that Bonds was a celebrity child, he 

employed that fact to craft a sham explanation about why he did not know 

anything about what Anderson did professionally in order to derail the grand jury’s 

Case: 11-10669     01/08/2014          ID: 8930260     DktEntry: 49-1     Page: 17 of 26 (17 of 137)



13 

inquiry into whether Anderson had given him injectable PEDs.3  And, as his 

conversation with Stan Conte, visits to Anderson’s lawyer’s office, and investment 

in protecting his public reputation as steroid-free showed, Bonds did this 

intentionally to obstruct the grand jury’s investigation. 

Second, literal falsity is not the touchstone of Section 1503, and the panel 

correctly rejected Bonds’s attempt to graft the requirements of United States v. 

Bronston, 409 U.S. 352 (1973), onto the obstruction statute.  Bronston examined 

18 U.S.C. § 1621, the general perjury statute, which prohibits willfully stating that 

a material matter that the defendant does not believe to be true is “true.”  409 U.S. 

at 352.  Based on the “precise words” of Section 1621, Bronston held that this 

requirement means that a defendant may not be convicted of perjury for an answer 

that is “literally true but not responsive to the question asked and arguably 

misleading by negative implication.”  Id. at 353, 357-58. 

The precise words of Section 1503 do not require proof of falsity, and the 

statute intentionally covers a broad spectrum of obstructive conduct.  See Catrino 

v. United States, 176 F.2d 884, 887 (9th Cir. 1949) (“The obstruction of justice 

statute is an outgrowth of Congressional recognition of the variety of corrupt 

methods by which the proper administration of justice may be impeded or 

                                           
 3  Contrary to Bonds’s claim, Petition at 12, the government has consistently 
argued that Statement C implied that Bonds did not know whether Anderson 
distributed PEDs.  See ER:116; Government’s Answering Brief at 28-30. 
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thwarted, a variety limited only by the imagination of the criminally inclined.”); 

see also United States v. Browning, 630 F.2d 694, 699 (10th Cir. 1980) 

(distinguishing Bronston and explaining that the “ultimate question” in an 

obstruction case “is not whether the defendant told the truth but whether the 

defendant obstructed or interfered with the process of truthfinding in an 

investigation”).  What makes conduct obstructive is that it blocks the flow of 

truthful, pertinent information to the grand jury in a manner that could affect the 

grand jury proceeding, and as a number of Circuits have observed, in this respect, 

there is no material difference between intentionally evasive and misleading 

testimony that conceals pertinent information and a literally false answer.  Bonds, 

730 F.3d at 895 (citing cases).  Here, there was ample evidence to support the 

panel’s conclusion that Statement C was both evasive and “at the very least 

misleading,” if not also literally false, as the government argued, about a matter 

central to the grand jury’s investigation.  Id. at 896; see Government’s Answering 

Brief at 27-33.   

Third, contrary to Bonds’s argument, Petition at 12, corrupt intent is an 

important limitation on Section 1503.4  Falsity is not the litmus test for whether 

speech may be criminalized; rather, what matters is whether the speech is 

                                           
 4  Bonds’s contention that the panel’s opinion makes mere intent to obstruct 
into a crime under Section 1503 overlooks the statute’s requirement of action, an 
endeavor.  Petition at 11.  Intent is one element of the offense, not the sole element.   
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“obscenity, defamation, fraud, incitement, [or] speech integral to criminal 

conduct.”  See United States v. Alvarez, 638 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 2011) (M. 

Smith, J., concurring in denial of rehearing en banc) (citing United States v. 

Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 468-69 (2010)); id. at 673-74 (Kozinski, C.J., also 

concurring).  It was not enough that Statement C actually had the effect of blocking 

the flow of truthful information to the grand jury; the jury also had to find that 

Bonds made Statement C with this effect in mind.  In fact, intent was central to 

Bonds’s defense.  Bonds argued to the jury that Statement C was just “[r]ambling, 

stammering, and faltering under oath,” Petition at 12, that he answered questions 

truthfully and that he did not intend to conceal evidence from the grand jury.  But, 

properly instructed, the jury rejected this defense that he lacked the requisite intent.  

It did so reasonably in view of entirety of Bonds’s grand jury testimony, Bonds’s 

conversation with Stan Conte, Bonds’s visits to Anderson’s lawyer’s office, and 

other evidence. 

Bonds claims that by holding that his eventual response to the injection 

question was irrelevant because he had endeavored to evade and mislead, the panel 

foreclosed the possibility of curing a false, evasive, and misleading answer.  

Petition at 14.  But Bonds never asked for an instruction on curing, and he also 

never directly and truthfully informed the grand jury that Anderson gave him 
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injections of PEDs.  This case therefore does not raise the question whether 

truthful testimony may “cure” obstructive testimony. 

In any event, there is nothing novel in the idea that post-hoc conduct does 

not cure an already-completed crime.  A robber’s return of stolen goods may affect 

how the prosecutor, jury, judge, victims, and community regard him, but it does 

not negate the robbery.  Likewise, this Court has held that the materiality of a false 

statement is to be gauged at the time the false statement is made.  United States v. 

McKenna, 327 F.3d 830, 839 (9th Cir. 2003); see United States v. Thomas, 612 

F.3d 1107, 1128-29 (9th Cir. 2010).  The grand jury has a critical role as “a barrier 

to reckless or unfounded charges,” and must be able to investigate crimes.  United 

States v. Mandujano, 425 U.S. 564, 571, 581 (1976).  A witness called to the grand 

jury “has an absolute duty to answer all questions, subject only to a valid Fifth 

Amendment claim.”  Id.  He does not have the option of prevaricating so long as 

he eventually tells the truth, thereby leaving the grand jury in doubt as to which 

version is really true.  

III. Bonds was convicted based on testimony charged in the indictment 
 

Bonds seeks en banc review because he claims the panel’s opinion 

eliminates the requirements of pleading ordinarily applicable in perjury and false 

statement cases.  Petition at 16.  The standards for pleading perjury do not apply to 

obstruction of justice.   
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An indictment meets the requirements of due process if it sets forth the 

elements of the charged offense and fairly informs a defendant of the charge 

against which he must defend, enabling him to bar future prosecutions for the same 

offense.  United States v. Resendiz-Ponce, 549 U.S. 102, 108 (2007).  Bonds’s 

indictment met these requirements.  It informed him that the government charged 

him with obstruction by his entire December 4, 2003, grand jury appearance to the 

extent the testimony was “intentionally, evasive, false, and misleading.”  ER:198.  

By referencing the first nine paragraphs of the indictment, the charge gave Bonds 

notice that the specific testimony at issue concerned his “knowledge and 

involvement with Balco,” Conte and “any relationship [he] had with [Greg] 

Anderson,” in relation to the federal investigation of “distribution of anabolic 

steroids and other illegal performance-enhancing drugs and the related money 

laundering of proceeds from the drug distributions.”  ER:193-95, 198.  Statement 

C, which concerned Bonds’s relationship with Anderson and explained Bonds’s 

professed ignorance about Anderson’s distribution of PEDs, was plainly within the 

scope of Count Five. 

Bonds claims that he could not have been on notice of Statement C because 

it was redacted from the indictment.  Petition at 16.  But the redaction was in 

Count Two, charging a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1623, not Count Five – the 

obstruction of justice count.  And even in Count Two, the alleged false statement 
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was the answer “No, no.”  ER:192.  The rest of the excerpt simply placed the false 

denial in context of the questions asked.  Moreover, the indictment expressly put 

Bonds on notice that the scope of Count Five “includ[ed] but [was] not limited to 

the false statements . . . charged in Counts One through Four of this Indictment.”  

ER:198.  That is, although the statements in Counts One through Four were 

charged as false statements, they were also included in the testimony charged as 

obstructive.  In any event, well before trial, Bonds was explicitly informed that the 

government planned to rely on Statement C.  See Court Record 194 at pp. 7-8. 

A perjury charge must state what statement is alleged to be false, but 

obstruction is not perjury.  This Court’s treatment of conspiracy cases is 

instructive.  In those cases, the government is not limited in its proof to overt acts 

alleged in the indictment, and unless the applicable statute requires proof of an 

overt act, the jury need not specifically agree on which overt act was committed.5  

United States v. Rizk, 660 F.3d 1126, 1131-32 (9th Cir. 2011); United States v. 

Chen Chiang Liu, 631 F.3d 993, 1001 n.7 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing Schad v. Arizona, 

501 U.S. 624, 631 (1991), which held that petit jurors need not agree on single 

means of commission). 

                                           
 5  Although the panel’s opinion states that the jury was “instructed correctly 
that to convict, it had to agree unanimously on which statement or statements 
qualified as intentionally evasive, false, or misleading,” Bonds, 730 F.3d at 899, no 
finding of specific unanimity was in fact required.  See United States v. Reed, 147 
F.3d 1178, 1180-82 (9th Cir. 1998). 
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Finally, Bonds suggests that the panel’s opinion means that an indictment 

that charges a defendant with obstructing justice through grand jury testimony 

lasting a week and covering wide-ranging topics would be constitutionally 

sufficient.  Petition at 17.  It plainly does not.  The panel was concerned only with 

2 hours and 37 minutes of grand jury testimony focused on what Bonds knew 

about BALCO and Anderson’s involvement with PEDs and money laundering.   

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth above, this Court should deny Bonds’s petition for 

rehearing en banc. 

 

Dated:  January 8, 2014   Respectfully submitted, 
 

MELINDA HAAG 
      United States Attorney 
 
      BARBARA J. VALLIERE    
      Assistant United States Attorney 
      Chief, Appellate Division 
 
              /s/ Merry Jean Chan       
      MERRY JEAN CHAN 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellee 
      UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
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